A.	Statement of Facts						
	B.	Procedural History9						
V.	ARG	11						
	A.	Standard of Review						
	В.	Reque	est F	Court Erred In Denying APL's or A Sales Tax Refund Because The s Are Fixtures	12			
		1.	Co	PL Proved That The T-5 Cranes Were onstructively And Physically Annexed The Realty	12			
			a.	Washington Law Required The Trial Court To Consider The T-5 Cranes' Adaptation To The Realty When Deciding Constructive Annexation	13			
			b.	The Trial Court Erred When It Refused To Apply The Doctrine Of Constructive Annexation Or Consider The T-5 Cranes' Adaptation	17			

20	Annexed To Terminal 5 By Virtue Of Their Weight And Adaptation To The Realty	•	
23	The T-5 Cranes Were Physically Annexed To Terminal 5 Through Their Connection To A Dedicated Electric Power Cable		
24	Proved That The Port Intended To manently Affix The T-5 Cranes To Realty		
25	The Trial Court Erred In Refusing To Apply A Presumption Of Intent In APL's Favor		
26	The Evidence Shows That The DOR Failed To Overcome The Presumption Of Intent		
28	 The Port Installed The T-5 Cranes With The Intent That They Remain Part Of Terminal 5 For Their Entire Useful Lives 		
	ii. The Port's References To The T-5 Cranes As "Equipment" And/Or Its Sales Tax Treatment Of Them Are Not Evidence That The Port Intended Only A Temporary Attachment At Terminal 5		
38		CONCLUSIO	VI.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

APL Ltd. v. Dep't of Revenue, 2010 WL 264992 (Wn. App. Jan. 25, 2010)10, 16
Amer. Radiator v. Pendleton, 62 Wash. 56, 112 Pac. 1117 (1911)24, 32
Ballard v. Alaska Theatre Co., 93 Wash. 655, 161 Pac. 478 (1916)25
Chase v. Tacoma Box Co., 11 Wash. 377, 39 Pac. 639 (1895)13, 14, 15, 19
Courtright Cattle Co. v. Dolsen Co., 94 Wn.2d 645, 619 P.2d 344 (1980)32
Dep't of Revenue v. Boeing Co., 85 Wn.2d 663, 538 P.2d 505 (1975)passin
Glen Park Assocs. v. Dep't of Revenue, 119 Wn. App. 481, 82 P.3d 664 (2003)passin
Hall v. Dare, 142 Wash. 222, 252 Pac. 926 (1927)passin
Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 132 Wn. App. 546, 132 P.3d 789 (2006)11, 1
Household Finance Corp. v. BancOhio, 577 N.E.2d 405 (Ohio App. 1989)2
In re Sheetz, Inc., 657 A.2d 1011 (Pa. Cmnw. 1995)2
In re Vic Bernacchi & Sons, Inc., 170 B.R. 647 (Bkrtcy. N.D. Ind. 1994)2
Kunkel v. Fisher, 106 Wn. App. 599, 23 P.3d 1128 (2001)2

Lamtec Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 838, 246 P.3d 788 (2011)24
Lipsett Steel Prods., Inc. v. King County, 67 Wn.2d 650, 409 P.2d 475 (1965)12
McCorkle v. Robbins, 267 N.W. 295 (Wis. 1936)24
Mich. Nat'l Bank v. City of Lansing, 293 N.W.2d 62628
Nearhoff v. Rucker, 156 Wash. 621, 287 Pac. 658 (1930)16, 22, 25
Parrish v. Southwest Wash. Prod. Credit Ass'n, 41 Wn.2d 586, 250 P.2d 973 (1952)
Reeder v. Smith, 118 Wash. 505, 203 Pac. 951 (1922)14, 16, 28, 30, 34
Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wn.2d 35, 59 P.3d 611 (2002)12
Seatrain Terminals of Cal., Inc. v. Alameda Cy., 83 Cal. App. 3d 69, 147 Cal. Rptr. 578 (1978)15, 17, 18, 23
Seattle Filmworks, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 106 Wn. App. 448, 24 P.3d 460 (2001)24
Strain v. Green, 25 Wn.2d 692, 172 P.2d 216 (1946)25, 27, 32
Strong v. Sunset Copper Co., 9 Wn.2d 214, 230, 114 P.2d 526 (1941)14, 32, 34
Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)11
<i>U.S. v. San Diego Cty.</i> , 53 F 3d 965 (9th Cir. 1995)

Waldorf v. Elliott, 330 P.2d 355 (Or. 1958)15	
Western Ag. Land Partners v. Dep't of Revenue, 43 Wn. App. 167, 716 P.3d 310 (1986)passim	
STATUTES, REGULATIONS AND COURT RULES	
RCW 82.08.020	
RCW 82.04.05011	
RCW 82.04.47036	
RCW 82.32.410	
WAC 458-12-010(3)16, 19, 21, 34	
OTHER AUTHORITIES	
Dept. of Revenue Det. No. 00-122, 20 WTD 461 (2001)14, 16, 17	
Dept. of Revenue Det. No. 91-317, 12 WTD 51 (1993)25	
Dept. of Revenue Det. No. 89-55, 7 WTD 151 (1989)32, 37	
Lincoln Ballinger Ltd. P'ship v. Dep't of Revenue, No. 51253, 1999 WL 1124058 (Wash. Bd. of Tax App. Jan. 29, 1999)	
MISCELLANEOUS	
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures, § 5	
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures, § 7	
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures, § 11	
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures, § 115	
36A C.J.S. Fixtures § 11	

I. INTRODUCTION

More than a quarter century ago, the Port of Seattle ("Port") embarked on a strategic plan to convert Terminal 5 into a state-of-the-art cargo container facility, capable of servicing the largest cargo ships in the world. To make that happen, the Port entered into a long-term lease with American Presidential Lines, Ltd. ("APL") that required the Port to install five 800-ton cranes for APL's use (the "T-5 Cranes"). These massive T-5 Cranes operate on rails embedded in the foundation, which enables them to move along the length of the wharf to load and unload the long "Post-Panamax" ships that dock at the terminal. The Port intended the T-5 Cranes to remain at Terminal 5 for their entire useful lives and, indeed, they have remained in service there since their installation.

The Port charges APL for its use of the T-5 Cranes. In conjunction with those use charges, the Port has collected retail sales tax from APL, which the Port passes on to the DOR. This is permissible, however, only if the cranes are "personal property," and not real property "fixtures." Under Washington's common law, which applies here, personal property becomes a fixture if (1) it is annexed to the realty, (2) it is adapted to the use or purpose of the realty, and (3) the annexing party intended the item to be a permanent addition to the realty. Because the T-5 Cranes are

fixtures under this test, APL sought a refund from the DOR and, after the DOR refused, brought this action in Thurston County Superior Court.

The trial court ruled in favor of the DOR, concluding that APL did not prove "annexation" and "intent." That conclusion must be reversed. As to annexation, an item is "constructively annexed" to the realty by gravity when it is particularly adapted to the use and purpose of the realty, and attached as firmly as reasonably possible given its function. The trial court erred as a matter of law when it refused to consider the cranes' adaptation to the realty in its annexation analysis. The undisputed evidence showed that the T-5 Cranes were specially designed for use at Terminal 5 and that the terminal was rebuilt for the specific purpose of accommodating the cranes. Indeed, the T-5 Cranes were attached to Terminal 5 in the only manner possible given the terminal's use as a cargo container facility. APL satisfied the "annexation" requirement.

As to intent, where a property owner attaches an item to its land, the owner is legally presumed to have intended a "permanent" attachment. Because the trial court erred in failing to find annexation, it then erred in refusing to apply the presumption. The DOR did not overcome this legal presumption of intent. In the context of equipment, "permanent" means until the item is worn out or obsolete. The undisputed evidence showed that the Port intended the T-5 Cranes to remain at Terminal 5 for their

expected useful lives and would not have spent tens of millions of dollars rebuilding Terminal 5 to accommodate the T-5 Cranes if it intended only a temporary attachment. APL therefore satisfied the "intent" requirement as well. Because the T-5 Cranes are fixtures for which APL owed no retail sales tax, APL is entitled to a judgment in its favor on its refund claim.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

APL makes the following assignments of error:

- 1. The trial court erred when it concluded that the T-5 Cranes were not annexed to the realty. CP 197-238 (Findings of Fact ("FF") and Conclusions of Law ("CL"), at FF ¶ 13, 23, 24 & 25 and CL ¶ 6, 8).
- 2. The trial court erred when it concluded that the T-5 Cranes' adaptation to the realty cannot be considered on the issue of annexation. CP 214-222 (Tr. (10/14/11) at 4-6, 9-12).
- 3. The trial court erred when it concluded that the Port did not intend the T-5 Cranes to be permanently attached to the realty. CP 197-238 (FF \P 26, 27, 29-31, 34, 36, 37 & 40-43 and CL \P 7-8).
- 4. The trial court erred when it refused to apply an evidentiary presumption in favor of APL on the issue of the Port's intent. CP 197-238 (FF \P 25); CP 217 (Tr. (10/14/11) at 7.

¹ APL elects to comply with the requirements of RAP 10.3(g) and RAP 10.4(c) by including a copy of the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and Order as an Appendix to this brief.

5. The trial court erred when it denied APL's request for a refund of retail sales tax paid from January 1997 through December 2005 and entered judgment for the DOR. CP 209; CP 239-240 (Judgment).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

As it relates to Washington's common law test for fixtures:

- 1. Did the trial court err when it refused to consider evidence of the T-5 Cranes' adaptation to the use and purpose of Terminal 5 when determining whether the cranes were annexed to the realty?
- 2. Did the Port annex the T-5 Cranes to Terminal 5 where (a) the cranes were attached to the terminal by virtue of their massive weight, (b) any other manner of attachment would have rendered the cranes ineffective for the purpose for which they were installed, (c) the cranes were adapted to the terminal's sole function as a cargo container facility, and (d) the Port rebuilt the terminal's foundation, embedded rails and electrical substation for the specific purpose of supporting the cranes?
- 3. Did the trial court err when it refused to apply the legal presumption that the Port intended to permanently attach the T-5 Cranes to Terminal 5?
- 4. Did the Port intend to permanently attach the T-5 Cranes to Terminal 5 where (a) the Port owns both the land and the cranes attached thereto, (b) the Port installed the cranes with the expectation that they

remain at the terminal for their expected useful lives, (c) the cranes were not designed to make them easily removable, and (d) the cranes have been continuously attached to Terminal 5 since their construction.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

In September 1985, the Port and APL entered into a 30-year lease agreement (the "Lease"). *See* Tr. Ex. 101; CP 199-200 (FF ¶ 5). Terminal 5 had recently been vacated, and the Port was focused on finding a premier tenant with whom it could partner to redevelop the terminal into a state-of-the-art intermodal cargo container facility. RP (9/27/11) at 85-86, 164.² To accomplish this, the Lease required the Port to purchase, construct and install four new cranes at Terminal 5, and granted APL an option on a fifth crane, which APL exercised (collectively referred to as the "T-5 Cranes"). Tr. Ex. 101 (§ 1(d)); RP (9/27/11) at 121; CP 200 (FF ¶ 10). According to the Port's executive director at the time, the Port's commitment to install the T-5 Cranes on Terminal 5 was "extraordinarily instrumental in securing the lease with" APL. RP (9/27/11) at 84-87.

These were no ordinary cranes. The T-5 Cranes were to be bigger and better than any of the Port's existing cranes. At the time of the Lease,

² An intermodal cargo container facility is a terminal where cargo containers are transferred by crane to and from ships and other modes of transportation, such as rail or truck. RP (9/27/11) at 161-62.

the Port had no cranes capable of loading and unloading giant "Post-Panamax" container ships, *i.e.*, ships too large to pass through the Panama Canal. Although Post-Panamax ships were not even being built yet—and, indeed, none would actually dock at the Port until 1995—the Port understood that construction of the T-5 Cranes was critical to the Port's long-term strategic plans. RP (9/27/11) at 87-88, 91, 164, 166-67; RP (9/28/11) at 305; CP 201 (FF ¶ 12). Indeed, the Port's director of leasing agreed that, with the addition of the T-5 Cranes, Terminal 5 "is superior to ... the Port's other container terminals in terms of its efficiency and functionality in loading and unloading containers." RP (9/28/11) at 301.

It took approximately a year to design and fabricate the T-5 Cranes to the Port's specifications. RP (9/26/11) at 68. The cranes were specially manufactured for use at Terminal 5, with design criteria tailored to size, weight and power constraints, as well as seismic and wind conditions. RP (9/26/11) at 55, 73-76; RP (9/27/11) at 88; Tr. Ex. 2. As discussed below, there was no effort to design the cranes so that they could be disassembled or removed from Terminal 5. RP (9/27/11) at 90. The crane components were transported to the Port by ship, rail and truck, and assembled for the first time on the dock after delivery. RP (9/26/11) at 68; RP (9/27/11) at 88. The first four T-5 Cranes were commissioned by the Port in 1986, and the fifth crane was commissioned in 1989. RP (9/27/11) at 128.

The T-5 Cranes are massive steel structures, which allow them to service larger ships and lift heavier cargo containers. Tr. Ex. 7. Each crane weighs approximately 800 tons (1.6 million pounds). RP (9/26/11) at 42; CP 200-201 (FF ¶ 10, 14). They are approximately 85 feet wide, 400 feet long and 200 feet tall when the boom is in the horizontal (working) position, and nearly 300 feet tall when the boom is raised. The boom itself is more than 145 feet long, which is long enough to load and unload a container ship that is 17 containers wide (the Panama Canal is only wide enough to accommodate ships that are 13 containers wide). RP (9/26/11) at 39-43; RP (9/27/11) at 167; RP (9/28/11) at 305; CP 201 (FF ¶ 14). Each of the five T-5 Cranes has a lifting capacity of 50 long tons (a long ton is 2,240 pounds). RP (9/26/11) at 50.

The T-5 Cranes operate on rails embedded in the wharf.³ The rails run parallel to the waterfront, enabling the cranes to move along the length of the dock. RP (9/26/11) at 48-49, 71; RP (9/27/11) at 147; CP 200-201 (FF ¶ 11). This movement is essential to the cranes' ability to load and unload the long container ships that dock at Terminal 5; they could not

³ Not only were the T-5 Cranes the first Post-Panamax cranes at the Port, they were the first 100-foot gauge cranes—which is the distance between the landside and waterside rails. RP (9/27/11) at 87-88. A larger gauge is necessary to support greater weight, but also allows more trucks to operate underneath the cranes, thereby increasing the number of containers the cranes can load or unload at any given time.

effectively function from a fixed position. RP (9/27/11) at 155. The rails are confined to Terminal 5 and, thus, the T-5 Cranes cannot be moved by rail to any other terminal. RP (9/26/11) at 71. Because of their massive weight, gravity is sufficient to connect the T-5 Cranes to the rails. *Id.* at 69; CP 200-201 (FF \P ¶ 11, 15). The cranes are also physically connected by cable to a dedicated high voltage electrical substation, which the Port built specifically to power the cranes. RP (9/26/11) at 43-44, 52-54, 67, 70-71; RP (9/27/11) at 164; CP 200 (FF \P 10).

In addition to a new electrical substation and system, the Lease required the Port to make other major structural improvements to Terminal 5 for the specific purpose of accommodating the massive weight and operation of the T-5 Cranes. RP (9/26/11) at 56; RP (9/27/11) at 87, 164; Tr. Ex. 3. Among other things, these improvements included construction of concrete and steel structural reinforcement to the wharf's "apron," which serves as the foundation for the crane rails and, ultimately, the T-5 Cranes themselves. To accommodate the cranes' 100-foot gauge, the Port also had to upgrade the waterside crane rail and build a new landside crane rail, which it embedded in the concrete apron. RP (9/26/11) at 60-67, 69-70; RP (9/27/11) at 87-88, 164-165.

The Port viewed the T-5 Cranes to be "an integral part" of Terminal 5. RP (9/27/11) at 89, 93. And a permanent one too. The Port

intended the T-5 Cranes to remain at Terminal 5; there was never a plan to remove the cranes from the facility. RP (9/27/11) at 90, 93. Indeed, so that the Port could recoup the cost of the cranes, the Port's executive director personally insisted that the term of the Lease match the expected useful life of the T-5 Cranes, which was 30 years. RP (9/27/11) at 89, 268. It was the longest lease ever entered into by the Port. RP (9/27/11) at 89. Consistent with the Port's long-term strategy, the T-5 Cranes have remained in continuous service at Terminal 5 since their construction. RP (9/28/11) at 298; CP 200 (FF ¶ 8). Even today, the Port considers the cranes to be a "component" of the terminal. RP (9/28/11) at 302.

B. Procedural History.

Under the Lease, APL is required to pay the Port periodic use charges for the T-5 Cranes as part of its rent. Tr. Ex. 101 (§ 3(a)). In conjunction with these crane use charges, the Port has collected retail sales tax from APL, which the Port has remitted to the DOR. Tr. Ex. 30 (sample invoices); RP (9/27/11) at 182, 213; CP 199 (FF ¶ 3). APL paid a total of \$1,456,261 in retail sales tax on the T-5 Cranes between 1997 and

 $^{^4}$ In 1999 one of the T-5 Cranes was temporarily lifted off its crane rails, and placed on temporary perpendicular rails, so that it could be repositioned following modification. RP (9/26/11) at 72; RP (9/27/11) at 143-145; CP 202 (FF ¶ 20). This was an extensive project that took months to engineer and carry out "because the crane wasn't originally designed for that kind of movement." RP (9/27/11) at 156.

2005. RP (9/27/11) at 182-185. APL petitioned the DOR for a refund on the grounds that the cranes were fixtures and, thus, not subject to retail sales tax. After the DOR denied the petition, APL brought this action against the DOR in Thurston County Superior Court, seeking a refund for the period January 1, 1997 through May 23, 2005. CP 4-7.

The trial court (then Judge Gary Tabor) granted the DOR's motion for summary judgment on the grounds that the T-5 Cranes were not "annexed" to the realty. APL appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed. CP 13-18; *APL Ltd. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 2010 WL 264992 (Wn. App. Jan. 25, 2010). The Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred when it ignored the Port's "intent" because "annexation is so intertwined with the intent to annex, one cannot be examined without the other." *Id.* at *4. The case was remanded for trial, and later consolidated with a second refund suit covering the balance of 2005. CP 19-21.

APL's refund claim was tried to the bench (now Judge Thomas McPhee) for three days in September 2011. CP 94-97. The court orally ruled in favor of the DOR on October 14, 2011, and entered written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 6, 2012. CP 196-238. Although the DOR conceded that APL had satisfied the "adaptation" prong of the common law test for fixtures, the trial court concluded that APL failed to establish the "annexation" and "intent" prongs. CP 207-208

(CL ¶¶ 2, 6 & 7). Consequently, it held that the T-5 Cranes were personal property and, therefore, the Port had properly collected retail sales tax from APL. *Id.* (CL ¶ 8). APL has again appealed, this time seeking direct review by the Supreme Court. CP 241-288.

V. ARGUMENT

The sole issue in this case is whether the T-5 Cranes are personal property or fixtures. If the cranes are personal property, then the Port could properly collect retail sales tax from APL, and APL is not entitled to a refund from the DOR. *See* RCW 82.08.020(1) & RCW 82.04.050(4)(a). If, on the other hand, the T-5 Cranes are fixtures—*i.e.*, real property—then the Port improperly collected the tax from APL, and APL is entitled to a refund. *Id.* For the reasons that follow, the T-5 Cranes are fixtures, and the trial court's conclusion to the contrary must be reversed.

A. Standard of Review.

Whether the T-5 Cranes are fixtures is a mixed question of law and fact. *Dep't of Revenue v. Boeing Co.*, 85 Wn.2d 663, 667, 538 P.2d 505 (1975). Following a bench trial, this Court reviews conclusions of law de novo. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). Challenged findings of fact are reviewed to determine whether they are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether they support the conclusions of law. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co.*, 132

Wn. App. 546, 555, 132 P.3d 789 (2006), *aff'd*, 162 Wn.2d 340, 172 P.3d 688 (2007). Substantial evidence exists if the evidence is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of its truth. *Id.* at 555–56. Conclusions of law improperly characterized as findings of fact must be reviewed de novo. *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, 148 Wn.2d 35, 43, 59 P.3d 611 (2002).

B. The Trial Court Erred In Denying APL's Request For A Sales Tax Refund Because The T-5 Cranes Are Fixtures.

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