RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 24, 2012, 4:25 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 86977-4

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

APL Limited, American President Lines, Ltd., and Eagle Marine Services, Ltd.,

Appellants,

٧.

Washington State Department of Revenue,

Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

David M. Hankins, WSBA # 19194 Senior Counsel Charles Zalesky, WSBA # 37777 Assistant Attorney General 7141 Cleanwater Lane SW (360) 753-5528



###

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard Of Review.

After a three-day bench trial, the superior court held that APL was not entitled to a refund of retail sales tax it paid on the lease of the T5 container cranes. On appeal, the reviewing court determines only "whether the trial court's findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the findings support the trial court's conclusions of law." *Nordstrom Credit, Inc. v Dep't of Revenue,* 120

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Port would not owe retail sales tax on its purchase of the cranes if they were purchased "for the purpose of resale as tangible personal property in the regular course of business without intervening use." RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i) (emphasis added). However, if the cranes were purchased for the purpose of being affixed to real property as fixtures, the "purchase for resale" exemption would not apply and the Port would owe retail sales tax on its purchase of the cranes.

Wn.2d 935, 939, 845 P.2d 1331 (1993). APL does not challenge Findings of Fact 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 28, 32, 33, 35, 38, and 39. Br. of Appellants at 3 (Assignments of Error). Those findings, therefore, are verities on appeal. *In re Dependency of MSR*, 174 Wn.2d 1, 9, 271 P.3d 234 (2012).

With respect to each of the findings of fact APL has challenged, it bears the burden of "demonstrating the finding is not supported by substantial evidence." *Nordstrom Credit*, 120 Wn.2d at 940. Substantial evidence is "evidence in sufficient quantum to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise." *Group Health Co-op. of Puget Sound, Inc., v. Dep't of Revenue*, 106 Wn.2d 391, 397, 722 P.2d 787 (1986).

### B. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That The T5 Cranes Leased To APL Were Tangible Personal Property, Not Fixtures.

To determine whether a chattel is tangible personal property or a fixture, our courts apply the common-law fixtures test. *Dep't of Revenue v. Boeing Co.*, 85 Wn.2d 663, 538 P.2d 505 (1975). The common-law fixtures test requires: "(1) Actual annexation to the realty, or something appurtenant thereto; (2) application to the use or purpose to which that part of the realty with which it is connected is appropriated; and (3) the intention of the party making the annexation to make a permanent accession to the freehold." *Id.* at 667. Each element of this three-part test must be met before an article may properly be considered a fixture. *Id.* at

on the particular facts of each case. *Union Elevator & Warehouse Co., Inc. v. State*, 144 Wn. App. 593, 603, 183 P.3d 1097 (2008). Moreover, under the third element, the court examines the intent of the party making the annexation and "when the intent is discovered it is generally controlling." *W.R. Ballard v. Alaska Theater Co.*, 93 Wash. 655, 662, 161 P. 478 (1916).

The trial court applied this common law test. CP at 207 (Con. of Law 3). The Department had conceded the second part of the test before trial. CP at 60; RP (Vol.1) at 19. Consequently, the trial court examined only the first and third parts of the fixtures test.

1. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings that the T5 container cranes were not annexed to the realty.

Substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings that the T5 container cranes were not annexed to the realty. Annexation "refers to the act of attaching or affixing personal property to real property." 35A Am. Jur. 2d *Fixtures* § 5 (2012). *See also Black's Law Dictionary* 98 (8th ed. 2004) ("annexation" means "[t]he act of attaching; the state of being attached"). None of the T5 cranes were attached or affixed to Terminal 5. Although each of the container cranes is large and heavy, they operate on 28 wheels and traverse along crane rails as part of their normal operation. CP at 200 (FOF 11); RP (Vol. 2) at 150.

The cranes are held on the crane rails by gravity. CP at 200 (FOF 11, 15). Moreover, container cranes are movable and can be relocated from one terminal to another. CP at 201 (FOF 18). This fact was confirmed at trial by the Port's Director of Seaport Leasing. RP (Vol. 2) at 264 ("Cranes can be moved.") In fact, there has been a history of moving Port-owned container cranes between terminals at the Port to meet tenant needs. CP at 201 (FOF 18). The evidence demonstrates that even though container cranes are large, they are movable and are not actually annexed to the realty.

APL argues that the dedicated electrical cables used to power the T5 cranes conclusively establish that the T5 container cranes were annexed to the realty. Br. of Appellants at 23. APL is mistaken. Connection of the equipment to an electrical substation by an electrical cable is not sufficient to attach the equipment to the Terminal 5 facility. The unchallenged evidence establishes that the T5 cranes operate on wheels and move along rails as part of their normal operation. CP at 200 (FOF 11); RP (Vol. 2) at 149, 150. Moreover, the container cranes can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> To support its argument, APL cites a Board of Tax Appeals decision, *Lincoln Ballinger Ltd. P'ship v. Dep't of Revenue*, No. 51253, 1999 WL 1124058 (Bd. Tax App. 1999). Br. of Appellants at 23. The Court of Appeals in *Glen Park Associates, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 119 Wn. App. 481, 492, 82 P.3d 664 (2003), *review denied*, 152 Wn.2d 1016, 101 P.3d 107 (2004) considered this Board decision in its fixtures analysis and rejected it. Additionally, APL ignores two recent decisions from the Board of Tax Appeals in which the Board specifically held that Port-owned container cranes nearly identical to the T5 cranes at issue here were not annexed to the realty. *Hanjin Shipping Ltd.*, v. Dep't of Revenue, 2011 WL 823104 (Bd. Tax App. 2011); *Total Terminals Int'l*, *LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 2011 WL 7266153 (Bd. Tax App. 2011). Although both the Hanjin and the Total Terminals cases are being appealed, they demonstrate the Board's view that Port-owned container cranes are not annexed to the Port's terminal facilities.

unplugged and moved from terminal to terminal. The Port actually unplugged and moved container crane number 66 from Terminal 30 to Terminal 5, where it was connected to the same power source as the T5 cranes. CP at 200 (FOF 9, 19). Simply put, the electrical connection of the cranes to the power source does not result in the cranes being attached or affixed to the real property. *Cf. Cherry v. Arthur*, 5 Wash. 787, 788, 32 P. 744 (1893) (a planer that was bolted to the floor and "its only connection with the motive power was by a belt over a pulley wheel" was personal property, not a fixture). None of the cases cited by the Appellants involve equipment such as the T5 cranes that move as part of their normal operation. See Br. of Appellants at 24, n.14.

Substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings that none of the T5 cranes were affixed to Terminal 5. Although each of the container cranes is large and heavy, they operate on 28 wheels and are connected to the crane rails only by gravity and move along the rails as part of their normal operation. Therefore, APL failed to establish the first annexation prong under the common-law fixtures test.

2. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that the Port intended the T5 cranes to be personal property, not fixtures.

After finding that the container cranes were not actually annexed to the realty as required under the first prong of the common-law test, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> APL has not argued that crane number 66 is annexed to the Terminal 5 facilities even though it is connected by electric cable to the same substation as the T5 cranes.

trial court found that the Port intended to treat the T5 container cranes as personal property, not as fixtures. CP at 203 (FOF 26-43).

# a. Intent is the most important factor in determining whether an item is tangible personal property or a fixture.

In determining whether an item becomes a fixture, "the cardinal inquiry is into the intent of [the person] making the annexation." *W.R. Ballard v. Alaska Theater Co.*, 93 Wash. 655, 662, 161 P. 478 (1916).

And "when the intent is discovered it is generally controlling." *Id.* Intent is determined from the surrounding circumstances at the time of installation, and "all pertinent factors reasonably bearing on the intent of the annexor should be considered in assessing the intent at the time of annexation." *Department of Revenue v. Boeing Co.*, 85 Wn.2d 663, 668, 538 P.2d 505 (1975)

## b. To determine the Port's intent, the trial court analyzed the factors identified in *Boeing*.

To determine the Port's intention, the trial court followed the factors identified in *Boeing*. CP at 203 (FOF 23). *Boeing* involved "immense tools" known as "fixed assembly jigs" that were used in manufacturing and assembling the Boeing 747. *Boeing* at 664. The jigs were bolted to the floor and weighed between 70 and 120 tons. *Id.* The jigs could be removed from the building without injuring the building and, over time, they had been moved from plant to plant. *Id.* at 665. Boeing argued the jigs were fixtures and therefore eligible for a manufacturing tax credit. *Id.* at 664. The Department asserted that the jigs were equipment,

i.e. tangible personal property and ineligible for the tax credit. *Id.* The Department conceded the first element of the common-law fixtures test. *Id.* at 667-68, n.3.<sup>7</sup> The court only examined the intent element.

In determining Boeing's intent, the Supreme Court considered five factors: (1) the feasibility of using the premises for a different purpose "in which case the present jigs would have to be discarded and new ones brought into the plant," (2) the manner in which the jigs were secured to the floor, (3) the feasibility of disassembling and moving the jigs "without undue difficulty or harm to the jigs," (4) whether Boeing considered the jigs to be personal property, and (5) "documentary" evidence that Boeing distinguished the jigs from fixtures. *Id.* at 669-70. While none of those factors was, by itself, determinative of Boeing's intent, taken together the totality of the circumstances indicated that Boeing had not intended the jigs to be a permanent accession to the freehold. *Id.* at 670-71. Those same five factors discussed in *Boeing* are also present here.

First, it was certainly feasible for the Port to use Terminal 5 for a different purpose, such as a cruise ship terminal or a "post-Panamax" container terminal. RP (Vol. 2) at 270-71. For example, in 2002 or 2003, Terminal 30 ceased activities as a container crane terminal after the tenant ended its lease and the Port converted Terminal 30 to a cruise ship terminal. RP (Vol. 2) at 242, 270-71; Ex. 113 at 2. When Terminal 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Department did not concede the second element, but the Court did not address the Department's "application" argument because it determined that Boeing lacked the requisite intent to make a permanent annexation to the land. *Id.* at 668 n.3.

was converted to a cruise ship terminal, the Port removed three "T30" cranes from the rails and moved them to the back of the terminal where they sat idle. RP (Vol. 2) at 270-71; Ex. 113 at 2. A couple of years later, two of the Port's tenants including APL requested the use of these idle container cranes and one was moved to Terminal 5 and two to Terminal 46. *Id.* Although Terminal 5 premises have not been used for a different purpose since 1985, it is certainly feasible for the Port to convert Terminal 5 for other purposes like it did at Terminal 30. Consequently, the T5 cranes were no more "permanent" than the jigs at issue in *Boeing*.

Second, the T5 cranes were not bolted or otherwise fastened to the premises and could be removed without harming the wharf. Rather, they are secured to the crane rails only by gravity. CP at 202, (FOF 20) RP (Vol.2) at 152, 271; Ex.113 at 2. Like the jigs in *Boeing*, this is "indicative of an intent that they be easily removable upon any changes in the current program." *Boeing*, 85 Wn.2d at 669.

Third, the T5 cranes could be disassembled and reassembled, and could be moved without undue difficulty or harm. CP at 202, RP (Vol.2) at 152, 271; Ex.113 at 2. In 1999, to meet APL's business needs, the Port modified two of the T5 cranes by increasing their height by 20 feet and repositioning one of the modified cranes on the Terminal 5 crane rails. RP (Vol. 2) at 137, 141-43. To accomplish this, the Port modified the container crane and then moved the container crane onto temporary rails perpendicular to the Terminal 5 crane rails. CP at 202 (FOF 20). This allowed the crane to be moved back, away from the working rails, and

allowed two other cranes to move past the modified container crane to be repositioned on the crane rails. CP at 202 (FOF 20). Once the two container cranes moved past the modified crane, the modified crane was moved back to the rails. RP (Vol. 2) at 143. Paraphrasing the Supreme Court in *Boeing*, the T5 cranes were "designed in such a manner that they [could] be disassembled and moved in or out of the" terminal facility. *Boeing*, 85 Wn.2d at 669. This undercuts APL's claim that the Port intended the cranes to be a permanent part of the realty "when they can be so readily moved . . . and thus transformed back into personalty." *Id*.

The fourth and fifth factors discussed in *Boeing* about how the owner considers the property to be personal property and documentary evidence from the owner regarding the item are also present here. As discussed below, there is ample "documentary" evidence in the record establishing that the Port considered the T5 cranes to be personal property and distinguishing the cranes from fixtures.

(1) The lease agreement demonstrates the Port considered the container cranes to be tangible personal property, not fixtures.

The lease agreement contains direct evidence that the Port intended the container cranes to be personal property, not fixtures. CP at 203 (FOF 30). Section (1)(a) of the initial lease between the parties described "the Premises" as consisting of approximately 77 acres of land and "improvements" thereto. CP at 203 (FOF 30); Ex. 101 at 3. The improvements covered under this section of the lease "are fully described"

on Exhibit B" to the initial lease. The improvements described in Exhibit B do not include container cranes. CP at 203 (FOF 30), Ex. 101 at 32-37.

Section 1(d) of the lease addressed the container cranes separately from the sections of the lease describing the premises and improvements. CP at 204 (FOF 32). The initial lease provided that APL would have preferential use on a non-continuous ship-by-ship basis of four Portowned container cranes. *Id.* Notably, the use of the container cranes permitted under section 1(d) of the lease is different from the use of the "Premises" permitted under section (1)(a). *Id.* The Premises are leased without the use restriction, except for the rails which support the container cranes. *Id.* 

Section 3(a) of the initial lease provided terms relating to "Rent" payments. That section identified three different payments that APL agreed to pay: "rentals, Crane use charges and amortization charges for certain improvements to the premises." CP at 205 (FOF 34); Ex. 101 at 40. The amounts due as crane use charges are specified in Exhibit C to the lease, which identifies the payments as "equipment rental." *Id.* This segregation of the payments due under the terms of the lease agreement, and the fact the crane use charges are specifically identified as equipment rental, provides further evidence that the Port considered the container cranes to be personal property, not fixtures. CP at 204-05 (FOF 34); Ex. 101 at 7.

Section 7(a) of the initial lease is another example of the segregation of "Cranes" from the "Premises." The specific language

states that "[b]efore entering into possession of each crane and of any portion of the Premises or taking possession of any improvements to the Premises, the Lessee shall examine and inspect the same." CP at 205 (FOF 35). The improvements to the lease are described in Exhibit B and do not refer to container cranes. *Id*.

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